
This document contains sections of legal argument for a brief in response to Motion to Dismiss on damages issues commonly raise by Defendants in mortgage servicing cases. Additional case citations and explanation on these issues are contained in the Foreclosures and Mortgage Servicing manual, Section 3.2.10.  
1. Actual and statutory damages – failure to respond to QWR

BRIEF IN RESPONSE TO

MOTION TO DISMISS

Plaintiff Jane Doe (“Ms. Doe” or “Plaintiff”) files this Response in Opposition to ABC Servicer, LLC’s (“ABC” or “Defendant”) Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint (“Motion”), and respectfully requests that the Motion be denied, for the reasons stated below.
I. MS. DOE HAS ALLEGED BOTH ACTUAL AND STATUTORY DAMAGES RESULTING FROM ABC’S VIOLATIONS OF RESPA. 
In its Motion, ABC does not contest the fact that it violated RESPA; instead, it argues that Ms. Doe did not suffer any damage as a result of its violations. RESPA provides that whoever fails to comply with the statute is liable to the borrower for any actual damages that result from the failure, as well as statutory damages of up to $2,000 per violation where there is a pattern or practice of non-compliance. 12 U.S.C. 2605(f). The allegations in the Amended Complaint are more than adequate to establish Ms. Doe’s claim for both actual and statutory damages.

A. The actual damages pled by Ms. Doe are recoverable under RESPA.

In her Amended Complaint, Ms. Doe alleges that she suffered the following harms as a result of ABC’s RESPA violations: (1) the time, inconvenience, and expense of serving, filing, and obtaining court orders for two lien strip motions against entities identified by ABC as the owner of her second mortgage; (2) the delayed entry of her Chapter 7 discharge and extended time in an active bankruptcy; (3) the cost of postage to mail the Qualified Written Request to ABC; (4) the cost of postage to serve the two unnecessary lien strip motions that she filed as a result of ABC’s inaccurate QWR responses; (5) the time and expense of traveling to her employer’s office to scan and email each inaccurate response to counsel; and (6) emotional distress stemming from confusion over the owner of her second mortgage and fear that she would lose her longtime home to foreclosure. (Am. Compl. ¶ 48.) These actual damages are recoverable in Ms. Doe’s RESPA action. 
In light of the remedial consumer protection purpose of RESPA, Courts have interpreted the term “actual damages” in §2506(f) broadly. McLean v. GMAC Mortgage Corp., 595 F.Supp.2d 1360, 1366 (S.D. Fla. 2009). Damages related to bankruptcy filings resulting from the RESPA violation are recoverable as actual damages, Walter v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. (In re Walter), 489 B.R. 298, 306 (Bankr. S.D. Ga. 2012), so the time, expense, and inconvenience of having to file additional motions in her bankruptcy case and remain in bankruptcy ten extra months constitute actual damages. Ms. Doe’s out-of-pocket expenses, lost time, inconvenience, and travel expenses incurred in dealing with ABC’s inaccurate and untimely RESPA responses (including filing, serving, and appearing in court on the additional lien strip motions, as well as traveling to scan and send ABC’s multiple letters to her counsel) are also recoverable as actual damages. Rawlings v. Dovenmuehle Mortg., Inc., 64 F. Supp. 2d 1156, 1164-65 (M.D. Ala. 1999) (authorizing recovery of actual damages for costs of sending correspondence
 and incurring travel expenses, and finding genuine issue of material fact as to whether the plaintiffs suffered actual damages in the amount of time taken away from work to prepare correspondence and travel to pick up registered mail). An allegation that the plaintiff was inconvenienced and incurred expenses while seeking the information that the servicer failed to provide is also sufficient to plead actual damages. Davis v. Greenpoint Mortg. Funding, Inc., 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 151992, at *49-50 (N.D. Ga. Feb. 28, 2011) (denying Defendants’ motion to dismiss where the complaint alleged that the plaintiff incurred expenses seeking the information that servicer refused to provide). Ms. Doe has amply alleged such facts. (Am. Compl. ¶ 48.) 
Ms. Doe also alleges that ABC’s inaccurate QWR responses caused her emotional and mental distress. Ms. Doe was confused and frustrated about the status of her second mortgage, which caused her great anxiety and stress. Most significantly, she feared losing her longtime home to foreclosure if she were unable to obtain a lien strip order against the correct legal entity. (Id. ¶ 48.) Emotional damages are actual damages under RESPA, and a plausible allegation that mental and emotional distress flowed from a RESPA violation is adequate to plead actual damages. Rawlings, 64 F. Supp. 2d at 1164-67 (denying Defendant’s motion for summary judgement where Plaintiffs alleged they suffered “aggravation” and feared losing their home to foreclosure); Kerfoot v. FNF Servicing, Inc., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 153849, *17-18, (M.D. Ga. Oct. 25, 2013) (allegations of “severe mental pain and anguish” as a result of the RESPA violation were sufficient to plead actual damages). 
B. Ms. Doe Has Pled Sufficient Facts to Form a Basis for Statutory Damages 

The Amended Complaint includes both direct and inferential factual allegations supporting a pattern or practice by ABC of failing to timely and accurately respond to a QWR as required by RESPA. As a preliminary matter, Defendant argues that Ms. Doe is not entitled to statutory damages without a claim for actual damages. Because Ms. Doe has established her claims for actual damages, as discussed above, she will address this argument only briefly. RESPA, as a consumer protection statute, must be construed liberally in favor of the consumer, and courts routinely recognize that a plaintiff must allege either actual damages or a pattern or practice of violations justifying statutory damages. Kralovic v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6271 at *12-13 (N.D. Ohio Jan. 16, 2015) (damages for RESPA claim against ABC were limited to statutory damages where plaintiff failed to allege actual damages); see also Frazile v. EMC Mortg. Corp., 382 F. App'x 833, 836 (11th Cir. 2010) (holding that an allegation of either actual or statutory damages is a necessary element of a RESPA claim); Patrick v. CitiFinancial Corp., LLC, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 118969 at *13 (M.D. Ala. Sept. 8, 2015); Walter v. Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. (In re Walter), 489 B.R. 298, 304-305 (Bankr. S.D. Ga. 2012).
Moreover, Ms. Doe has more than adequately alleged that ABC has a pattern or practice of noncompliance with RESPA. While there is no bright line test for determining whether repeated RESPA violations suggest a pattern or practice, “the term suggests a standard or routine way of operating.” Davis, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 151992 at *51. Here, Ms. Doe has pled both the egregious facts of her case, where ABC committed numerous RESPA violations, and that she is aware of other well-pled allegations similar to the facts of her case. 
ABC repeatedly violated RESPA in the course of responding to Ms. Doe’s QWR by providing multiple responses that each failed to accurately or timely identify the holder of her loan. ABC’s first response was timely, but inaccurate. ABC’s second and third responses were both untimely and inaccurate.   The substance of the response Ms. Doe received also demonstrates a particularly egregious practice with respect to providing owner identity. ABC’s response dated December 9, 2014 went so far to identify the holder of the loan as “CSB3b-1 (don’t use).” A response of this nature indicates a systemic failure, as ABC generated, approved, and mailed a response that fails to identify an entity that might even plausibly hold a loan and even contains the statement “don’t use.”  Given such facts, even a single response can be indicative of a servicer’s policy and practices. Davis, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 151992 at *51-52 (finding that plaintiff sufficiently alleged a pattern or practice based on the servicer’s refusal to identify the holder of the loan in response to a single QWR). 
It is possible to establish a “pattern and practice” of noncompliance through evidence of the servicer’s dealings simply with the named plaintiff in an action. In Ploog v. Homeside Lending, Inc., 209 F. Supp. 2d 863 (N.D. Ill. 2002), the plaintiff alleged that the servicer failed to respond to five separate qualified written requests she had sent to the servicer. For purposes of ruling on a motion to dismiss, the court concluded that the plaintiff would be entitled to statutory damages for the servicer’s pattern and practice of noncompliance based on the five violations related to her loan. Another court has suggested that a pattern and practice of noncompliance may be established in an individual case where a servicer repeatedly informed the plaintiff that his loss mitigation application was complete but failed to evaluate or provide any response to the plaintiff over the course of a year. Clark v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, 2015 WL 6159447 (W.D. Mich. Oct. 20, 2015).  See also Schneider v. Bank of Am., 2014 WL 2118327 (E.D. Cal. May 21, 2014) (refusing to dismiss claim for statutory damages based on alleged failure to respond to three qualified written requests); Mazed v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, 2014 WL 1364929 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 7, 2014) (borrower’s allegations of five instances of sending qualified written requests without a response sufficient to avoid dismissal); Kapsis v. Am. Home Mortg. Servicing Inc., 923 F. Supp. 2d 430 (E.D.N.Y. 2013) (allegation of more than two RESPA violations sufficient to survive motion to dismiss); Joern v. Ocwen Loan Serv., LLC, 2010 WL 3516907 (E.D. Wash. Sept. 2, 2010) (finding that three successive failures to timely acknowledge and/or respond to a qualified written request might constitute a pattern or practice); Serfass v. CIT Group/Consumer Fin., Inc., 2008 WL 4200356 (D.S.C. Sept. 10, 2008) (pattern and practice of noncompliance established by servicer’s failure to respond to five qualified written requests sent by the plaintiff); Wright v. Litton Loan Serv., LP, 2006 WL 891030 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 4, 2006) (awarding statutory damages in view of the numerous violations with respect to the plaintiff).

Although the factual allegations arising from her case alone are sufficient to give rise to a plausible claim for statutory damages based on a pattern or practice of RESPA violations, Ms. Doe further alleges the existence of numerous consumer complaints against ABC filed with the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau as well as multiple well-pled lawsuits against ABC for violations of RESPA.
 These allegations, taken as true, are more than sufficient to give rise to a plausible claim for statutory damages. Contrary to ABC’s insinuation, Ms. Doe is not required to prove the veracity of these third-party complaints at the motion to dismiss stage – such factual determinations must be reserved for summary judgment and trial. The Eleventh Circuit in Renfroe v. Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, 2016 WL 2754461, at *6 (11th Cir. May 12, 2016), held that to avoid dismissal on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, “[d]isclosing the identities of other borrowers, the dates of the letters, and the specifics of their inquiries is not a prerequisite to pleading statutory damages.”

2. Causation (damages caused by the violation) – loss mitigation procedures and failure to respond to QWR
A. Ms. Doe has pled actual damages caused by Defendant’s violation of the statute.

Defendant ABC next argues that none of the damages described in the Amended Complaint were caused by Defendant’s violation of RESPA, but rather were caused by Plaintiff’s default on her loan.  This argument is incorrect and reflects a fundamental misunderstanding of RESPA’s loss mitigation rules.  
Courts have broadly defined the scope of actual damages available under RESPA.  Porciello v. Bank of Am., 2015 WL 899942, at *4 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 3, 2015) (“RESPA has been held to be a consumer protection statute, and as such the term ‘actual damages’ is to be construed broadly”).  At a minimum, actual damages for a section 2605 violation should include all of the homeowner’s economic injuries that directly flow from the servicer’s failure to comply with the statute’s requirements.  
Defendant makes much of the fact that Ms. Doe had defaulted on the payments on her mortgage.  The fact that Ms. Doe was in default did not mean that foreclosure was unavoidable in her case.  Almost all homeowners who apply for loss mitigation are in default on their loan; the fact of the default (or imminent risk of default) is what makes loss mitigation necessary.
  Ms. Doe alleges that if Defendant had complied with RESPA by timely evaluating her for all available loss mitigation options, she would have been approved for a Fannie Mae Standard Modification.  Contrary to Defendant’s arguments, Ms. Doe does not attempt to argue that RESPA requires a particular loan modification be extended, but that Fannie Mae’s own rules require it.  She argues that as a factual matter, if Defendant had evaluated her application, she would have been approved.  Even if this were not the case, she alleges in the alternative that if Defendant had promptly evaluated her application and denied her request, rather than delaying and initiating foreclosure, she could have pursued another alternative, such as selling her home.  In either alternative, Plaintiff has amply alleged that Defendant’s violation of the statute caused her injuries alleged in the complaint. 

Ms. Doe does not dispute that she was in default on her mortgage at the time of the foreclosure sale.  However, she also alleges that she was eligible for a loan modification under the Fannie Mae servicing rules applicable to her loan and that if Defendant had properly evaluated her loss mitigation application, she would have been approved for a modification.  The loan modification for which she qualified would have brought her loan current and removed the risk of foreclosure.  The modification for which she qualified would have reduced her interest rate from 6.5% to 3.875% and reduced her monthly payment from $1,026 to $786.  She alleges that ABC failed to notify her within five business days of the additional documents needed to make her application complete, instead requesting documents piece meal, and also failed to evaluate Ms. Doe for all available options within 30 days of her application being complete.  These failures resulted in ten additional months of Ms. Doe’s loan building up interest arrears at the higher interest rate of 6.5%.  ABC also failed to suspend foreclosure proceedings, as required by RESPA, while reviewing her complete loss mitigation application, leading to the imposition of foreclosure fees and attorney’s fees that ABC has now added to the balance owed on her loan.  Thus, based on the allegations in Ms. Doe’s complaint, Defendant’s failures to comply with RESPA caused Ms. Doe to lose equity in her home through increased interest arrears and fees and ultimately caused her to lose her home to foreclosure, when if properly evaluated, she would have been approved for a loan modification.  These damages are recoverable under RESPA.  See Marais v. Chase Home Fin. LLC, 736 F.3d 711 (6th Cir. 2013) (reversing dismissal of RESPA claim and finding that plaintiff’s complaint sufficiently stated that she paid additional interest because of servicer’s failure to correct error); Houston v. U.S. Bank Home Mortg. Wis. Serv., 505 Fed. Appx. 543, 548 (6th Cir. 2012) (reversing in part grant of summary judgment where borrower alleged financial and emotional damages arising from RESPA violation, noting that “the district court was too quick to grant summary judgment against the entirety of Houston’s RESPA claim”); Padgett v. OneWest Bank, 2010 WL 3239350 (N.D. W. Va. Aug. 16, 2010) (finding that complaint sufficiently pleaded pecuniary injury in the form of improperly imposed late fees); Pelayo v. Home Capital Funding, 2009 WL 1459419 (S.D. Cal. May 22, 2009) (finding that plaintiff had sufficiently pleaded damages); In re Price, 403 B.R. 775 (Bankr. E.D. Ark. 2009) (finding that borrowers had adequately pleaded actual damages by alleging that they expended time and expenses in seeking to obtain requested documents). 

Ms. Doe was also harmed by having to retain a lawyer to fight the post-foreclosure eviction that would not have occurred but for ABC’s violation of RESPA’s dual tracking rules.  See Hammer v. Residential Credit Sols., Inc., 2015 WL 7776807 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 3, 2015) (borrower would not have had to incur attorney fees if servicer had properly investigated the borrower’s QWR and dismissed the second foreclosure proceeding).

In addition, Ms. Doe has alleged that ABC’s failure to evaluate her loan modification application, causing her to slip further into default and eventually foreclosure, damaged her credit.  Ms. Doe was harmed by the negative credit reporting because she was denied a car loan that she has alleged, upon information and belief, she otherwise would have received. See Gray v. Nationstar Mortg., LLC, 2012 WL 359764 (E.D. Mich. Feb. 2, 2012) (allegations contained in borrower’s affidavit that he was denied an employment opportunity due to negative information in his credit report were sufficient to defeat motion to dismiss); Guidi v. Paul Fin., L.L.C., 2014 WL 60253 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 7, 2014) (plaintiff could show damages related to credit impact if the complaint alleged specific negative information contained in a report).  Ms. Doe has also alleged that she suffered emotional distress caused by the negative impact of foreclosures on her credit.  Hammer v. Residential Credit Sols., Inc., 2015 WL 7776807, at *24 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 3, 2015) (to adequately plead damages, plaintiff “only had to show that the negative credit reporting occurred and that she suffered emotional distress because of it”). 
Even damages that were incurred prior to the violation of RESPA can be causally related to the failure to comply with the statute  When ABC failed to remove the improper late charges and property inspection fees from Ms. Doe’s account in response to her Notice of Error, her loan balance remained higher than it should have been.  Thus ABC’s failure to comply with the requirements of RESPA caused the loan balance to remain inflated and the consequent reduction in equity. See Renfroe v. Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, __F.3d __, 2016 WL 2754461, at *5 (11th Cir. May 12, 2016) (rejecting servicer’s argument that there was no causal connection between plaintiff’s damages and the RESPA violation where the damages occurred before the notice of error was sent, noting that the “statutory mechanism makes past errors current by requiring servicers to fix errors they find upon reasonable investigation, including by issuing refunds as necessary”).  Even the cost of sending the QWR may be recovered as damages where such request was futile, because the servicer failed to respond by correcting the error.  See Marais v. Chase Home Fin. L.L.C., 736 F.3d 711, 721 (6th Cir. 2013)  (remanding matter with instructions to district court to consider plaintiff’s argument that “those costs [of the qualified written request] were for naught due to defendant’s deficient response, i.e., her QWR expenses became actual damages when [the defendant] ignored its statutory duties to adequately respond.”); McMillen v. Resurgent Capital Servs., L.P., 2014 WL 3341337, at *3 (S.D. Ohio July 8, 2014) (“Therefore, where the borrower incurs costs as the result of submitting a QWR but effectively receives no benefit, due to a servicer’s non-trivial violation of 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(2), those costs may become ‘actual damages.’”).
Ms. Doe has adequately pled actual damages stemming from the violation, including [include all that apply, and be sure to explain how each harm was caused by the Defendant’s violation – legal authority should be explicated in light of the facts of your case]:

● Cost to prepare a notice of error, request for information, or qualified written request; Marais v. Chase Home Fin., L.L.C., 24 F. Supp. 3d 712 (S.D. Ohio 2014); McMillen v. Resurgent Capital Servs., L.P., 2014 WL 3341337, at *3 (S.D. Ohio July 8, 2014).  But see Giordano v. MGC Mortgage, Inc, 2016 WL 627344 (D.N.J. Feb. 16, 2016) (pre-violation letter preparation costs are not actual damages under RESPA because not incurred as a result of the violation); Tsakanikas v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, 2012 WL 6042836 (S.D. Ohio Dec. 4, 2012) (costs incurred by plaintiffs in preparing and sending the request are not recoverable, because they were incurred before the alleged RESPA violation).
● Cost of photocopies and postage in sending a notice of error, request for information, or qualified written request; Russell v. Nationstar Mortg., L.L.C., 2015 WL 541893 (S.D. Fla. Feb. 10, 2015) (actual damages of photocopying costs and postage costs that were alleged to have been incurred after servicer’s response to a qualified written request may be recovered); Marais v. Chase Home Fin., L.L.C., 24 F. Supp. 3d 712 (S.D. Ohio 2014) (mailing costs); Cortez v. Keystone Bank, 2000 WL 536666 (E.D. Pa. May 2, 2000); In re Tomasevic, 273 B.R. 682 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 2002).
● Time spent and expenses incurred in obtaining compliance, transportation costs, and inconvenience; Marais v. Chase Home Fin. L.L.C., 736 F.3d 711 (6th Cir. 2013) (remanding for district court to consider borrower’s argument that the expenses she incurred in preparing her qualified written request became actual damages when servicer failed to respond); In re Bryce, 2013 WL 781619 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. Mar. 1, 2013) ($180 paid to borrower’s attorney to prepare the qualified written request); Johnstone v. Bank of Am., 173 F. Supp. 2d 809 (N.D. Ill. 2001); Cortez v. Keystone Bank, 2000 WL 536666 (E.D. Pa. May 2, 2000) (actual damages include time spent away from job preparing correspondence to servicer); Rawlings v. Dovenmuehle Mortgage, Inc., 64 F. Supp. 2d 1156 (M.D. Ala. 1999) ($75 for “secretarial service correspondence” and $40 for traveling to post office).
● Additional interest, late fees, and foreclosure costs; Rizk v. Residential Credit Solutions, Inc., 2015 WL 573944 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 10, 2015) (allegation of overpayment of interest); Gritters v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, L.L.C., 2014 WL 7451682 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 31, 2014) (complaint sufficiently pleaded as damages overcharging of taxes and insurance, wrongful assessment of pre-modification charges to post-modification statements, withholding of escrow funds, and the assessment of untimely foreclosure charges); Enis v. Bank of Am., 2013 WL 840696 (N.D. Tex. Mar. 7, 2013) (allegation of improper imposition of late fees satisfied pleading requirement for damages under RESPA); Johnstone v. Bank of Am., 173 F. Supp. 2d 809 (N.D. Ill. 2001); Padgett v. OneWest Bank, 2010 WL 1539839 (N.D. W. Va. Apr. 19, 2010) (same); In re Tomasevic, 273 B.R. 682 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 2002) (additional interest caused by servicer’s misapplication of chapter 13 plan payments to prepetition arrearage recoverable as actual damages, though debtor failed to prove charges for additional interest).
· Overpayments resulting from miscalculation of payment amount; Renfroe v. Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, 2016 WL 2754461 (11th Cir. May 12, 2016).
· Additional charges resulting from misapplication of payments; Turner v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, L.L.C., 2014 WL 6886054 (S.D. Cal. Dec. 3, 2014) (alleging overcharges and late fees resulting from misapplication of payments under forbearance agreement); Kapsis v. Am. Home Mortg. Serv. Inc., 923 F. Supp. 2d 430 (E.D.N.Y. 2013).
● Payments made to former servicer after effective date of transfer; Wanger v. EMC Mortg. Corp., 127 Cal. Rptr. 2d 685 (Cal. Ct. App. 2002).
· Expenses incurred in preparing and updating a loss mitigation application that was ignored by servicer. Clark v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, 2015 WL 6159447 (W.D. Mich. Oct. 20, 2015).
● Loss of home through foreclosure or inability to avoid foreclosure; Carr v. U.S. Bank, 2012 WL 5949798 (D. Colo. Nov. 28, 2012) (allegation held to be sufficient that because servicer did not provide the requested information, plaintiffs were not able to correct the default or avoid foreclosure and consequently suffered damages); Wanger v. EMC Mortg. Corp., 127 Cal. Rptr. 2d 685 (Cal. Ct. App. 2002) (foreclosure may be included in actual damages awarded under § 2605(f)(1), regardless of whether foreclosure was wrongful, if borrower can show that foreclosure occurred as a result of the servicer’s failure to deliver notice of servicing transfer).

● Denial of right to rescind loan caused by servicer failing to identify note holder; Woods v. Greenpoint Mortg. Funding, Inc., 2010 WL 1729711 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 28, 2010) (by failing to give borrower a “straight answer” to request for identity of owner of mortgage, servicer harmed borrower by preventing him from rescinding the loan).
· Denial of access to full amount of credit line; Cortez v. Keystone Bank, 2000 WL 536666 (E.D. Pa. May 2, 2000).

· Damage to credit rating.  Rizk v. Residential Credit Solutions, Inc., 2015 WL 573944 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 10, 2015) (allegation of reduction in credit limits, increased credit card rates, rejection of car loan, and credit card applications); Boessenecker v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, 2013 WL 3856242, at *3 (N.D. Cal. July 24, 2013) (allegation that plaintiffs were not “able to refinance their loan to take advantage of the low interest rates and save thousands per year on their mortgage payments” was sufficient to plead actual damages); Gray v. Nationstar Mortg., L.L.C., 2012 WL 359764 (E.D. Mich. Feb. 2, 2012) (allegations contained in the borrower’s affidavit that he was denied an employment opportunity due to negative information in his credit report were sufficient to defeat motion to dismiss); Hutchinson v. Delaware Sav. Bank, 410 F. Supp. 2d 374 (D.N.J. 2006) (plaintiffs’ allegation that negative credit reports caused them to lose mortgage financing was sufficient to state a RESPA claim); Williamson v. Advanta Mortgage Corp., 1999 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16374 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 8, 1999) (damages resulting from inability to refinance mortgage at lower interest rate based on servicer’s failure to take corrective action and negative reporting sufficiently pleaded).

� While the costs of sending the QWR alone may not have been enough to support a claim for actual damages, where other damages exist, the cost of sending the QWR can be included in an award of damages.  Renfroe v. Nationstar Mortg., LLC, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16328, at *20-21 (S.D. Ala. Jan. 14, 2015), aff’d, 2016 WL 2754461, at *5 (11th Cir. May 12, 2016).


� Plaintiff’s allegation that several well-pled complaints have been filed against ABC alleging violations of RESPA is more than sufficient to state a claim for statutory damages. Such an allegation, made pursuant to Rule 11, must be accepted as true on a motion to dismiss, and need not be proven at this stage. Nonetheless, several examples are included herein for the Court’s reference: Kralovic v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6271 at *12 (N.D. Ohio Jan. 16, 2015) (complaint against ABC alleged multiple RESPA violations, including failure  to correctly identify the owner of the plaintiff's loan); Moreno v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 68012 at *10-11, 2010 WL 2525980 (E.D. Cal. June 23, 2010) (complaint alleged ABC’s failure to identify the holder of the loan); Cline v. Kondaur Capital Corp. (In re Cline), 2013 Bankr. LEXIS 4433, 2013 WL 5744731 (Bankr. E.D. Ky. Oct. 23, 2013) (default judgment entered against ABC for failure to provide the notice of servicing transfer); Chancellor v. Bank of Am. N.A., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 131612 at *16 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 29, 2015) (complaint alleged ABC failed to respond to a request for information including, among other things, “the original investor on the loan”). 


� Id. at *6.  The specific allegation in the Renfroe complaint that related to the other notices stated: “On at least five separate occasions, including Ms. Renfroe's case, Nationstar has used the same generic form letters to respond to [notices of error]. These form letter[s] were sent [to] borrowers in Birmingham, Alabama; Mobile[,] Alabama[;] and Lexington, Maryland. In each situation, Nationstar's form and generic response failed to address the specific issues addressed in the borrower's letter and violated RESPA Section 2605(e).”


� Numbers re default/loss mit
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